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OPINION 

_____________________ 

SMITH, Circuit Judge. 

 Heike Obergantschnig worked as a dispatch officer for the public safety 

department of Saw Creek Estates Community Association (Saw Creek) from 

January of 2008 to January of 2011.  After Saw Creek terminated 
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Obergantschnig’s employment, she filed a complaint in the United States District 

Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.  She alleged claims of sexual 

harassment and retaliation in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 

as amended.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2.   

After discovery closed, Saw Creek filed a motion for summary judgment on 

both claims.  The District Court granted Saw Creek’s motion.  This timely appeal 

followed.
1
  We will affirm. 

We have carefully reviewed the briefs of the parties and the record before 

us.  We agree with the District Court that Obergantschnig failed to establish that 

the sexual harassment was sufficiently pervasive.  See Mandel v. M & Q Pkg. 

Corp., 706 F.3d 157, 167 (3d Cir. 2013) (listing as an element of a hostile work 

environment claim that “the discrimination was severe or pervasive”).  In addition, 

we conclude that summary judgment was properly granted on the retaliation claim.  

The District Court appropriately determined that Obergantschnig’s complaints did 

not constitute protected activity.  See Wilkerson v. New Media Tech. Charter Sch. 

Inc., 522 F.3d 315, 320 (3d Cir. 2008) (noting elements of prima facie case of 

retaliation under Title VII includes that plaintiff “engaged in a protected activity”).  

 

                                                 
1
 The District Court exercised jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  We have final 

order jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  We exercise plenary review over a 

district court’s order granting summary judgment.  Mandel v. M & Q Pkg. Corp., 

706 F.3d 157, 164 (3d Cir. 2013). 


